
Supreme Court, U.S.
FILED

IN THE

JERRY N. JONES, MARY F. JONES,
AND ARLINE WINERMAN,

Petitioners,
V.

HARRIS ASSOCIATES L.P.,
Respondent.

On Petition for a Writ of Certiorari
to the United States Court of Appeals

for the Seventh Circuit

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

MICHAEL J. BRICKMAN
JAMES C. BRADLEY
NINA H. FIELDS
RICHARDSON, PATRICK,

WESTBROOK & BRICKMAN,
LLC

174 East Bay Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 727-6500

JOHN M. GREABE
296 Gage Hill Road
Hopkinton, NH 03229
(603) 746-6138

November 3, 2008

DAVID C. FREDERICK
Counsel of Record

BRENDAN J. CRIMMINS
KELLOGG, HUBER, HANSEN,

TODD, EVANS & FIGEL,
P.L.L.C.

1615 M Street, N.W.
Suite 400
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 326-7900

ERNEST A. YOUNG
224 Huntington Drive
Chapel Hill, NC 27514
(919) 613-8506



QUESTION PRESENTED

Congress enacted the Investment Company Act of
1940 to mitigate the conflicts of interest inherent
in the relationship between investment advisers and
the mutual funds they create and manage. See Daily
Income Fund, Inc. v. Fox. 464 U.S. 523, 536 (1984).
Section 36(b) of that Act imposes on investment
advisers "a fiduciary duty with respect to the receipt
of compensation for services" and authorizes fund
shareholders to bring a claim for "breach of [that]
fiduciary duty." 15 U.S.C. § 80a-35(b). The Act fur-
ther provides that, in such an action, "approval by
the board of directors" of the fund is not conclusive,
but "shall be given such consideration by the court as
is deemed appropriate under all the circumstances."
Id. § 80a-35(b)(2). The question presented is:

Whether the court below erroneously held, in
conflict with the decisions of three other circuits,
that a shareholder’s claim that the fund’s investment
adviser charged an excessive fee - more than twice
the fee it charged to funds with which it was not
affiliated - is not cognizable under § 36(b), unless the
shareholder can show that the adviser misled the
fund’s directors who approved the fee.
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Jerry N. Jones, Mary F. Jones, and Arline Winer-
man respectfully petition for a writ of certiorari to
review the judgment of the United States Court of
Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in this case.

INTRODUCTION
The Seventh Circuit in this case expressly rejected

the Second Circuit’s standard, which the Third and
Fourth Circuits follow, for assessing a claim that
a mutual fund’s investment adviser - a statutory
fiduciary under the Investment Company Act of
1940 ("ICA" or "Act") - charged an excessive fee
for investment-advisory services. The judges of the
Seventh Circuit divided evenly (five-to-five, with one
judge recused) on whether to rehear the panel’s deci-
sion en banc. As Judge Posner explained in dissent-
ing from the denial of rehearing en banc, "the crea-
tion of a circuit split, the importance of the issue to
the mutual fund industry, and the one-sided charac-
ter of the panel’s analysis" warrant further review.
Pet. App. 42a-43a.

Mutual funds ordinarily are formed and run by
their investment advisers. Because of the symbiotic
relationship between advisers and their funds, "the
forces of arm’s-length bargaining" over compensation
"do not work in the mutual fund industry in the same
manner as they do in other sectors of the American
economy." S. Rep. No. 91-184, at 5 (1969). In re-
sponse to "the potential for abuse inherent in [that]
structure," Congress enacted the ICA. Daily Income
Fund, Inc. v. Fox, 464 U.S. 523, 536 (1984) (internal
quotation marks omitted). After several decades of
practice under the ICA, Congress concluded that
investment advisers continued to charge their funds
excessive fees for investment-advisory services, despite
the structural safeguards the original ICA imposed.



In 1970, to combat the persistent problem of exces-
sive investment-adviser fees, Congress added § 36(b)
to the ICA. Section 36(b) imposes on investment
advisers "a fiduciary duty with respect to the receipt
of compensation for services" and authorizes fund
shareholders to bring a claim for "breach of [that]
fiduciary duty." 15 U.S.C. § 80a-35(b) (emphasis
added). In the leading case interpreting § 36(b), the
Second Circuit held that an investment adviser
breaches its fiduciary duty with respect to compensa-
tion when it charges "a fee that is so dispropor-
tionately large" that, in light of all pertinent facts,
the fee "bears no reasonable relationship to the ser-
vices rendered." Gartenberg v. Merrill Lynch Asset
Mgmt., Inc., 694 F.2d 923, 928 (2d Cir. 1982). Courts
in the Second Circuit have applied that standard
for more than 25 years. And the Third and Fourth
Circuits have followed the Second Circuit’s lead in
adopting the Gartenberg standard.

In the decision below, the Seventh Circuit expressly
rejected the prevailing interpretation of § 36(b) and
"disapprove[d] the Gartenberg approach." Pet. App.
8a. Instead, the court held that an allegation that
an adviser charged excessive fees for advisory ser-
vices does not state a claim for breach of fiduciary
duty under § 36(b), unless the adviser also misled
the fund’s board of directors in obtaining their
approval of the compensation. See id. at 8a-9a. The
court adopted that standard even though the ICA
expressly provides that, in § 36(b) cases, approval of
the fee by the fund’s board is not conclusive, but
"shall be given such consideration by the court as is
deemed appropriate under all the circumstances." 15
U.S.C. § 80a-35(b)(2). The panel also gave no weight
to powerful - and undisputed - evidence that the fee



charged in this case would not have been agreed to in
an arm’s-length negotiation: the fee was more than
twice what the investment adviser charges to clients
it does not control. See Pet. App. 6a: see also id. at
39a (Posner, J.).

The proper interpretation of § 36(b) presents a
question of surpassing importance to the 44 percent
of American families with $11.5 trillion in retirement
and personal savings invested in mutual funds.1

This Court’s immediate review therefore is war-
ranted to resolve the square conflict in the circuits on
whether an investment adviser’s fiduciary duty "with
respect to the receipt of compensation" under § 36(b)
in fact encompasses the amount of compensation that
the adviser may charge a fund it controls and is not
limited to cases where the board has been misled.

OPINIONS BELOW
The opinion of the court of appeals (Pet. App. la-

14a) is reported at 527 F.3d 627. The opinion of the
district court (Pet. App. 15a-33a) is not reported but
is available at 2007 WL 627640.

JURISDICTION
The court of appeals entered its judgment on May

19, 2008, and denied a petition for rehearing on
August 8, 2008. See Pet. App. 34a-43a. This Court’s
jurisdiction is invoked under 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).

1 See Investment Company Institute, Trends in Ownership

of Mutual Funds in the United States, 2007, at 1 (Nov. 2007)
("2007 Trends in Ownership"), available at http://www.ici.org/
pdf/fm-v16n5.pdf; Investment Company Institute, Trends in
Mutual Fund Investing, August 2008 (Sept. 29, 2008) ("Trends
in Mutual Fund Investing’), available at http://www.ici.org/
stats/latest/tren~ls 08 08.html#TopOfPage.
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STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED
Relevant provisions of the Investment Company

Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-1 et seq., are reproduced
at Pet. App. 44a-64a.

STATEMENT
A. Statutory and Regulatory Background

1. Mutual funds are "typically created and man-
aged by a pre-existing external organization known as
an investment adviser." Daily Income Fund, 464 U.S.
at 536 (citing Burks v. Lasker, 441 U.S. 471, 481
(1979)). The relationship between a fund and its
adviser "is fraught with potential conflicts of interest,"
because the adviser "generally supervises the daily
operation of the fund and often selects affil[iated
persons to serve on the company’s board of directors."
Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). To mitigate
such conflicts of interest, Congress enacted the ICA
in 1940 and imposed a number of structural safe-
guards on the industry. See id. at 536-37.

Following the Act’s passage, investment advisers
continued to exploit their control over mutual :funds
to charge excessive fees. One study concluded, that
"investment advisers often charged mutual :funds
higher fees than those charged the advisers’ other
clients and further determined that the structure
of the industry, even as regulated by the Act,
had proven resistant to efforts to moderate adviser
compensation." Id. at 537. A subsequent Securities
and Exchange Commission ("SEC") investigation
found that "investment advisers were generally com-
pensated on the basis of a fixed percentage c,f the
fund’s assets, rather than on services rendered or
actual expenses," and that, "as a fund’s assets .grew,
this form of payment could produce unreasonable
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fees in light of the economies of scale realized in
managing a larger portfolio." Id.

The SEC also had concluded that "lawsuits by
security holders challenging the reasonableness of
adviser fees had been largely ineffective due to the
standards employed by courts to judge the fees." Id.
Courts applied either state common-law standards
of corporate waste - under which fees could be
challenged only if they were "unconscionable" or
"shocking" - or, under the ICA, a standard requiring
shareholders to prove "gross abuse of trust." Id. at
540 & n.12. As a consequence, courts often relied on
director approval of fees to deny relief. See id.

2. To combat the continuing problem of excessive
investment-adviser fees, Congress enacted the Invest-
ment Company Amendments Act of 1970, Pub. L. No.
91-547, 84 Stat. 1413 ("1970 Amendments"). See
Daily Income Fund, 464 U.S. at 537-39. The 1970
Amendments strengthened the ICA’s structural pro-
tections by requiring that at least 40 percent of a
fund’s directors be persons who are not "interested"
in the adviser. 15 U.S.C. § 80a-10(a); id. § 80a-
2(a)(19)(A)(iii). The Act as amended also requires
that a majority of the "noninterested" directors
annually approve the adviser’s compensation agree-
ment, "at a meeting called for the purpose of voting
on such approval." Id. § 80a-15(c).

Recognizing that the existence of procedural safe-
guards had not eliminated excessive adviser fees,
Congress also enacted a substantive protection
against undue compensation by adding § 36(b) to the
ICA. See Daily Income Fund. 464 U.S. at 539-40.
Section 36(b) imposes on investment advisers "a fidu-
ciary duty with respect to the receipt of compensation
for services." 15 U.S.C. § 80a-35(b). It also grants
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shareholders a private right of action. Id. Congress
further specified that, in a shareholder suit under
§ 36(b), director approval of the adviser’s compensa-
tion would not be conclusive, but rather "shall be
given such consideration by the court as is deemed
appropriate under all the circumslLances." Id. § 80a-
35(b)(2).

B. Facts

Petitioners own shares in several mutual fu~.~ds -
referred to as the "Oakmark funds" - for which
respondent Harris Associates serves as the invest-
ment adviser. See Pet. App. la. Harris created
the funds, manages the funds’ daily operations, and
even provides the funds’ office space and equipment.
See id. at 39a-40a. In addition, Harris selected each
of the members of the funds’ board of trustees.
The Oakmark funds are thus typical "controlled" or
"captive" mutual funds - exactly the type of fund
that Congress sought to protect through the ICA. Id.

Harris charges the Oakmark funds fees for
investment-advisory services that are based on a
percentage of each fund’s net assets. Those fees are
more than twice what Harris charges independent
funds that it advises. For example, during the rele-
vant period, Harris charged one of the Oakmark
funds one percent of the first $2 billion of the fund’s
assets. For institutional clients (such as pension
funds) that Harris advises but does not control,
Harris charged roughly one-half of one percent for
the first $500 million in assets and roughly one-third
of one percent for everything above. See id. at 6a,
17a, 39a.2

2 Specifically, Harris charged a comparable institutional

client 0.75 percent of the first $15 million under management,
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In addition to charging fees far exceeding those
it billed to independent clients, Harris accepted
compensation in violation of a number of the ICA’s
structural safeguards, which Congress designed to
check adviser fees. For example, although Victor
Morgenstern - the chair of the board and one of
the funds’ supposedly disinterested trustees - was a
former Harris partner with a continuing financial
interest in Harris worth hundreds of thousands of
dollars per year. Morgenstern participated in the
statutorily mandated disinterested-trustee meetings
at which Harris’s fee agreements were reviewed and
approved. See 15 U.S.C. § 80a-15(c); Pet. App. 2a-3a;
C.A. App. A78-A80, A87.3 Further, the funds’ regis-
tration statements did not disclose Morgenstern’s
financial interest in Harris, as the Act requires. See
15 U.S.C. § 80a-33(b); Pet. App. 3a; C.A. App. A88.

C. Proceedings Below
1. In August 2004, petitioners sued Harris in

federal district court, alleging that Harris breached
its fiduciary duty with respect to compensation under
§ 36(b) of the ICA. Petitioners asserted that Harris
charged the Oakmark funds excessive investment-
advisory fees, in violation of § 36(b). They also con-
tended that Harris breached its fiduciary duty under
§ 36(b) by accepting fees in violation of the Act’s
structural protections against undue compensation -
namely, the provisions requiring approval of fee
agreements by disinterested directors and disclosure
of conflicts.

with the percentage decreasing thereafter. See Pet. App. 6a,
17a.

3 See also Pet. App. 18a (describing other financial and per-

sonal relationships between the funds’ directors and Harris).
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Harris moved for summary judgment, arguing that
it complied with § 36(b) because its fees were in line
with those paid by similarly situated mutual :funds
and the fees were approved by the funds’ trustees.
Petitioners opposed Harris’s motion, contending that,
regardless of whether Harris’s fees comported with
those paid by other mutual funds, those fees were
significantly higher than fees paid by indepeladent
clients and therefore were excessive under § 36(b).
Petitioners further argued that the facts surrounding
the trustees’ oversight of Harris’s compensation not
only failed to establish the reasonableness c,f the
fees - because the statute precludes giving conclu-
sive weight to board approval - but also tended to
show that Harris had breached its fiduciary duty
with respect to compensation, considering the board
members’ extensive financial and personal associations
with Harris. See Pet, App. 18a (describing so:me of
those associations).

In addition, because the evidence of Harris’s lack of
compliance with the ICA’s structural requirements
was undisputed, petitioners moved for summary judg-
ment on liability. In opposing petitioners’ motion,
Harris contended that it had complied with the ICA’s
structural requirements and that, in any evenly, any
failure to comply with the ICA’s institutional safe-
guards was irrelevant to a breach-of-fiduciary-duty
claim under § 36(b).

2. The district court granted Harris’s motion for
summary judgment and denied petitioners’. In deny-
ing petitioners’ motion, the court concluded that
an adviser’s fiduciary duty under § 36(b) does not
include compliance with the structural provisions
on which petitioners relied. See Pet. App. 24a-26a.
The court also asserted that the board would have
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approved Harris’s fees anyway and that the viola-
tions therefore were essentially harmless. See ido at
25a-26a.

Turning to Harris’s motion, the district court
opined that "the only question we need consider is
whether [the funds’ board] could have agreed to the
fee schedule in the advisory contracts after engaging
in good-faith bargaining." Id. at 31a. The court
answered that question in the affirmative, because
the evidence "indicate[d] that the board as a whole
was operating without any conflict that would [have]
prevent[ed] it from engaging in arm’s-length negotia-
tions with Harris," id., and because Harris’s fees
were comparable to those paid by other mutual
funds, id. at 30a-32a. In the court’s view, it did not
matter whether independent clients paid far less for
services that were "indistinguishable" from those the
Oakmark funds received. Id. at 30a.

3. a. A panel of the Seventh Circuit affirmed the
district court’s judgment. The panel first addressed
petitioners’ evidence that Harris violated its fiduci-
ary duty with respect to compensation by failing to
comply with the ICA’s structural safeguards against
excessive adviser fees. It concluded that the finan-
cial relationship between Morgenstern (the suppos-
edly disinterested trustee) and Harris would violate
15 U.S.C. § 80a-15(c) only if, taking away Morgen-
stern, the disinterested trustees who voted to ap-
prove Harris’s compensation would not have made up
a majority of all disinterested trustees. See Pet. App.
3a-4a. Put differently, in the panel’s view, the Act’s
requirement that a majority of the disinterested di-
rectors approve adviser compensation can be satis-
fled even if one of the directors participating in the
approval process is, in fact, interested in the adviser
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- so long as his vote is not necessary to achi~eve a
majority. See id. Similarly, the panel concludecl that
the funds’ shareholders’ could not recover for the fail-
ure to disclose Morgenstern’s financial ties to Harris,
unless Morgenstern’s vote to approve Harris’s fees
was decisive. See id. at 3a.

The panel next considered petitioners’ claim that
Harris charged excessive investment-adviser fees,
in violation of § 36(b). It noted tlhe Second Circuit’s
holding in Gartenberg that an adviser violates § 36(b)
when it charges "’a fee that is so disproportiolaately
large that it bears no reasonable relationship to
the services rendered.’" Id. at 5a (quoting 694 F.2d
at 928). The panel also opined that the Third and
Fourth Circuits had divided on the propriety of
Gartenberg’s interpretation of § 36(b). See id. at 8a
(citing Green v. Fund Asset Mgmt., L.P., 286 F.3d 682
(3d Cir. 2002); Migdal v. Rowe Price-Fleming Int’l,
Inc., 248 F.3d 321 (4th Cir. 2001)).

The panel "disapprove[d] the Gartenberg approach."
Id. It instead held that an allegation that an aclviser
charged excessive fees for advisory services is not
actionable under § 36(b). See id. The panel reasoned
that "[a] fiduciary must make full disclosure ancl play
no tricks but is not subject to a cap on compensation."
Id. So long as the adviser candidly negotiate~,~ with
the trustees, therefore, the trustees’ decision to approve
the adviser’s compensation is "conclusive." Id. at 9a.

The panel allowed that it is "possible to imagine
compensation so unusual that a court will infer
that deceit must have occurred, or that the persons
responsible for decision have abdicated." Id. But it
held that such an inference could never be drawn
where the adviser’s compensation is "normal among
similar institutions" - here, other mutual funds. Id.
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Accordingly, the panel, like the district court, gave
no weight to the fact that Harris charged more to
the Oakmark funds than to its independent clients.
See id. at 13a. (It also speculated that the Oakmark
funds required more of Harris’s time. See id.)

To support its interpretation of § 36(b), the panel
analogized investment-adviser fees to compensation
of fiduciaries such as corporate managers and
lawyers. It asserted that courts do not review what
corporate boards or clients pay officers or attorneys
and drew the conclusion that "[j]udicial price-setting
does not accompany fiduciary duties." Id. at 10a.
In addition~ the panel argued that its deregulatory
approach was good policy. It asserted that, because
there are many mutual funds, the mutual-fund
industry must be competitive and that competition
among mutual funds for investors’ dollars must con-
strain adviser compensation. See id. at lla-13a.

b. Petitioners sought rehearing. The Seventh
Circuit’s active iudges split five-to-five on whether to
grant rehearing, with one judge recused. Lacking a
majority, the court of appeals denied rehearing. See
Pet. App. 34a.4

Judge Posner, joined by Judges Rovner, Wood,
Williams, and Tinder, dissented from the denial of
rehearing en banc. See id. at 35a-43a. Judge Posner
noted that the panel had "rejected the approach
taken by the Second Circuit in Gartenberg... to de-
ciding whether a mutual fund adviser has breached
his fiduciary duty to the fund." Id. at 35a. Judge
Posner explained that the panel’s "rejection" of the
Gartenberg standard was based on "an economic
analysis that is ripe for reexamination on the basis
of growing indications that executive compensation in

4 See also 28 U.S.C. § 46(c); Fed. R. App. P. 35(a).
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large publicly traded firms often is excessive because
of the feeble incentives of boards of directors to po-
lice compensation." Id. at 37a (citing authorities).
"Competition in product and capital markets can’t be
counted on to solve the problem," he wrote: "because
the same structure of incentives operates on all large
corporations and similar entities, including mutual
funds." Id. at 38a~ see id. at 40a-41a. After all, Judge
Posner observed, "[m]utual funds are a component of
the financial services industry, where abuses have
been rampant." Id. at 38a.

Turning to this case, Judge Posner explained that
"there is no doubt that the captive funds are indeed
captive" and that the "Oakmark-Harris relationship
matches the arrangement described in the Senate
Report accompanying § 36(b): a fund ’organized by
its investment adviser which provides it with almost
all management services.’" Id. at 39a (quoting
S. Rep. No. 91-184, at 5); see id. at 40a (describing
the relationship in greater detail). Judge Posner
emphasized that a "particular concern" was Harris’s
practice of "charging its captive funds," in which peti-
tioners invested, "more than twice what it charges
independent funds." Id. at 39a. And he rejected as
"airy speculation" the panel’s "suggestions on why
this difference may be justified" - suggestions lack-
ing "an evidentiary or empirical basis." Id. at 39a,
41a. Judge Posner concluded that this case warrants
further review in light of "the creation of a circuit
split, the importance of the issue to the mutual fund
industry, and the one-sided character of the panel’s
analysis." Id. at 42a-43a.
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION
I. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH

DECISIONS OF THE SECOND, THIRD, AND
FOURTH CIRCUITS ON A FUNDAMENTAL
ISSUE OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAW

The Seventh Circuit’s decision in this case created
a conflict with three other circuits in holding that
an investment adviser’s compensation, no matter
how excessive, does not support a claim for breach of
fiduciary duty under § 36(b) of the ICA, unless the
adviser also misled the fund’s directors in obtaining
their approval of the fee. The majority rule traces its
origins to the Second Circuit’s decision in Gartenberg
v. Merrill Lynch Asset Management, Inc., 694 F.2d
923 (2d Cir. 1982). Recognizing that Congress en-
acted § 36(b) because the usual arm’s-length bargain-
ing over compensation ar.rangements does not occur
between investment advisers and the funds they
control, the Gartenberg court held that an adviser
breaches its fiduciary duty under § 36(b) when its fee
is so disproportionate to the services rendered that
the fee evidently would not have been agreed to in an
arm’s-length transaction. See id. at 928. Both the
Third and Fourth Circuits have followed the Second
Circuit’s approach, establishing a firm three-circuit
rule, and district courts in other circuits where there
is no controlling precedent likewise have favorably
cited Gartenberg. See Pet. App. 36a (citing cases
from courts in the First, Fifth, Eighth, Ninth, and
Tenth Circuits).

In rejecting the Gartenberg standard, the Seventh
Circuit created a division of authority in the courts of
appeals on the standard for determining compliance
with an investment adviser’s fiduciary duty under
§ 36(b). Significantly, there is now a conflict between
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the courts of appeals that hear cases from the coun-
try’s two hubs of securities trading (New York and
Chicago) on an important question of federal ~,~ecuri-
ties law.

A. The Second, Third, And Fourth Circuits
Follow The Gartenberg Standard

1. The Second Circuit. In Gartenberg, sharehold-
ers in a money-market fund alleged that the fund’s
investment adviser charged the ~hnd excessive fees,
in violation of § 36(b). See 694 F.2d at 925. Like
Harris, the adviser in Gartenberg charged the fund
an advisory fee based on a percentage of the fund’s
net assets. See id. at 926.

After a bench trial, the district court ruled in favor
of the adviser, finding that the "total fee was fair to
the Fund." Id. at 927 (internal quotation marks
omitted). In making that fairness determination, the
court considered a number of factors, including "the
nature and extent of the services, the fees charged
by other advisers to other money market funds, the
overall cost.., of providing the services, and tlhe fee
schedule’s allowance for economies of scale by reduc-
ing the rate as the Fund’s net assets increased." Id.
The court also "gave weight to the process by which
the 6 noninterested trustees of the Fund" - whom
the court found to be "competent, independent and
conscientious in the performance of their duties"-
approved the fee agreement. Id. It found that the
trustees "were furnished with sufficient information
to evaluate the contract" and, in fact, "thoroughly
reviewed and weighed all facts pertinent to the fee"
before approving it. Id.

In affirming, the Second Circuit explained that the
fiduciary duty that § 36(b) imposes must be under-
stood in light of the provision’s purpose. Congress
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enacted § 36(b) in response to the reality that "the
usual arm’s length bargaining between strangers
does not occur between an adviser and the fund." Id.
at 928 (citing S. Rep. No. 91-184); see id. at 929-30
(describing "the potentially incestuous relationships
between many advisers and their funds"). Accord-
ingly, the Second Circuit held that an investment
adviser breaches its fiduciary duty under § 36(b)
when the adviser charges a fee that is "so dispropor-
tionately large" - or "excessive" - that it ’%ears no
reasonable relationship to the services rendered and
could not have been the product of arm’s-length
bargaining." Id. at 928, 930-31.

The Second Circuit described "pertinent facts" that
a court should consider "in determining whether a
fee is so excessive as to constitute a ’breach of fidu-
ciary duty’" under § 36(b). Id. at 929-30. Those
include "the adviser-manager’s cost in providing the
service, the nature and quality of the service, the
extent to which the adviser-manager realizes econo-
mies of scale as the fund grows larger, and the
volume of orders which must be processed by the
manager." Id. at 930. The Gartenberg court also
noted the importance of examining the role of the
fund’s trustees: "the expertise of the independent
trustees of a fund, whether they are fully informed
about all facts bearing on the adviser-manager’s
service and fee, and the extent of care and conscien-
tiousness with which they perform their duties are
important factors to be considered." Id.~ see id. at
933. But the Second Circuit cautioned that trustee
approval does not automatically establish compliance
with § 36(b), because, "even if the trustees of a
fund endeavored to act in a responsible fashion, an
adviser-manager’s fee could be so disproportionately
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large as to amount to a breach of fiduciary d~ty in
violation of § 36(b)." Id. at 930; see also 15 U.S.C.
§ 80a-35(b)(2).

In addition, the Second Circuit "disagree[d] with"
the district court’s suggestion that significant weight
should be given to "the price charged by other similar
advisers to funds managed by them." 694 F.2d at
929. It explained that competition between funds for
shareholder business "does not support an inference
that competition must therefore also exist between
adviser-managers for fund business." Id. "The
former may be vigorous," the court reasoned, "even
though the latter is virtually non-existent," because
"[e]ach is governed by different forces." Id. There-
fore, the court held that an adviser’s "[r]eliance on
prevailing industry advisory fees will not satisfy
§ 36(b)." Id.5

Numerous subsequent cases in the Second Circuit
have reaffirmed the Gartenberg standard.6 For
example, in Meyer v. Oppenheimer Management
Corp.. 764 F.2d 76 (2d Cir. 1985), the Second Circuit

5 The Gartenberg court also observed in a footnote that -

in the context of the money-market fund at issue there, which
resembled "a bank account" in that "[i]dle money [could] be
invested in the Fund for as little as a day and put to work earn-
ing interest," 694 F.2d at 925 a comparison between the fees
charged to the money-market fund and the fees charged to
pension funds was not especially meaningful. It reasoned that
a "pension fund does not face the myriad of daily purchases and
redemptions throughout the nation which mus~ be handled b~~’

a money-market fund, "in which a purchaser may invest for
only a few days." Id. at 930 n.3.

6 See, e.g., Bellikoff v. Eaton Vance Corp., 481 F.3d 11_0, 117-

18 (2d Cir. 2007) (per curiam); Amron v. Morgan Stan,ley Inv.
Advisors Inc., 464 F.3d 338, 340 (2d Cir. 2006); Krinsk v. Fund
Asset Mgmt., Inc., 875 F.2d 404, 409 (2d Cir. 1989).
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reiterated that "[a]n investment adviser violates
section 36(b) when it, or an affiliated person, charges
’a fee that is so disproportionately large that it bears
no reasonable relationship to the services rendered
and could not have been the product of arm’s-length
bargaining.’" Id. at 81 (quoting Gartenberg, 694 F.2d
at 928). The district court in Meyer had dismissed
the plaintiff’s claim that the adviser’s fee was "exces-
sive," relying "principally on the approval of the . ..
fees by the Fund’s board of directors." Id. at 83.
Applying Gartenberg, the Second Circuit reversed,
explaining that, "in deciding whether a fee is so high
as to constitute a breach of fiduciary duty, a court
should examine all the facts surrounding a fee deter-
mination." Id.

2. Fourth Circuit. In Migdal v. Rowe Price-
Fleming International, Inc., 248 F.3d 321 (4th Cir.
2001), shareholders in two mutual funds sued the
investment advisers of those funds, alleging that
they "breached their fiduciary duty under Section
36(b) because the fees they received were excessive."
Id. at 325. Like the Second Circuit, the Migdal court
recognized that "the typical arm’s-length bargaining
does not occur between an investment adviser and a
mutual fund because the operations of the fund are
conducted by the adviser." Id. at 326. The court
accordingly adopted the standard that the Second
Circuit applied in Gartenberg, holding that an ad-
viser violates its fiduciary duty under § 36(b) when
it charges a fee "’that is so disproportionately large
that it bears no reasonable relationship to the ser-
vices rendered and could not have been the product
of arm’s-length bargaining.’" Id. (quoting Gartenberg,
694 F.2d at 928).
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Rather than following the multi-factor approach
the Second Circuit articulated, however, the Fourth
Circuit focused narrowly on one particular factor -
"the relationship between the fees that the advisers
received and the services which they provided in
return." Id. at 327. The court upheld the dismissal
of the plaintiffs’ complaint because it lacked specific
allegations regarding the services the advisers pro-
vided. See id. The court specifically noted, however,
that the plaintiffs in that case had not made, "any
allegations about excess profits from economies of
sale." Id. By making clear that such allegations
were relevant to the inquiry about an invesl~ment
adviser’s breach of fiduciary duty, the Fourth Cir-
cuit’s rule conflicts with the standard announced by
the Seventh Circuit in this case.

3. Third Circuit. The year after Migdal, the
Third Circuit confronted a § 36(b) claim in Krantz v.
Prudential Investments Fund Management LLC, 305
F.3d 140 (3d Cir. 2002) (per curiam). There, too, an
investor in a mutual fund alleged that the fund’s
adviser "received excessive compensation in breach of
[its] ’fiduciary duty with respect to compensation’ set
forth in § 36(b)." Id. at 141 (quoting 15 U.S.C. !i 80a-
35(b)). Like the Gartenberg and Migdal courts, the
Third Circuit recognized that an investment adviser
breaches its fiduciary duty under § 36(b) when it
charges a fee that is "excessive" in light of the
services rendered. Id. at 143. Following the Fourth
Circuit’s interpretation of Gartenberg in Migdal, the
Third Circuit required specific .allegations regarding
"’the relationship between the fees charged and the
services rendered by the investment adviser.’" Id.
(quoting Migdal, 248 F.3d at 327). Because the
plaintiff "failed to allege any facts indicating that the
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fees received were disproportionate to the services
rendered," the court of appeals affirmed the dismissal
of the case. Id.7

B. The Seventh Circuit Rejected The Garten-
berg Standard

In this case, the Seventh Circuit broke with the
governing standard in the Second, Third, and Fourth
Circuits and held that an allegation that an invest-
ment adviser charged an excessive fee does not state
a claim under § 36(b) of the ICA. See Pet. App. 8a-
9a. The court below "disapprove[d] the Gartenberg
approach." Id. at 9a. It held instead that the fund’s
"trustees ... determine how much advisory services
are worth" and that, so long as the adviser "make[s]
full disclosure and play[s] no tricks," the trustees’
decision to approve the fee "is conclusive." Id. at 8a-
9a. As Judge Posner explained, in "reject[ing]" the
Gartenberg standard, the Seventh Circuit "created a
circuit split" and engendered significant confusion
regarding the standard for assessing excessive-fee
claims under § 36(b). Id. at 35a, 42a.

The court below suggested that the amount of an
adviser’s fee could be "so unusual that a court will
infer that deceit must have occurred, or that the
persons responsible for [the] decision have abdicated."
Id. at 9a. Harris may contend that the Seventh
Circuit’s approach is in fact not so different from
Gartenberg, because compensation that is "’so unusual’
might not seem to differ materially from compensa-

7 The court below suggested that a different Third Circuit

decision had rejected the Gartenberg standard. See Pet. App. 8a
(citing Green v. Fund Asset Mgmt., L.P., 286 F.3d 682 (3d Cir.
2002)). But, as Judge Posner explained, "the amount of com-
pensation was not at issue" in the Third Circuit’s Green case.
Id. at 35a.
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tion that is ’so disproportionately large.’" Id. at 41a
(Posner, J.). But, as Judge Posner explained, such a
suggestion "misses an important difference between
the Gartenberg approach and the panel’s approach":
"The panel’s ’so unusual’ standard is to be applied
solely by comparing the adviser’s fee with the fees
charged by other mutual fund advisers." Id. The
Second Circuit’s standard "is rightly not so limited"
and would allow consideration of, among other
things, the difference between the fees charged to
captive funds and the fees charged to independent
funds. Ido

II. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE
SEVENTH CIRCUIT’S DECISION

The Seventh Circuit held that a shareholder’s alle-
gation that an investment adviser charged excessive
fees does not, without more, state an actionable claim
for relief under § 36(b). See Pet. App. 8a ("A fiduci-
ary must make full disclosure and[ play no tricks but
is not subject to a cap on compensation."). Instead, to
state a claim, an investor would have to allege that
the adviser misled the directors in some fashionL. See
id. at 9a, 13a-14a (describing the directors’ decision
as "conclusive," absent an allegation that the adviser
"pulled the wool over the [directors’] eyes"). That
holding cannot be reconciled with the ICA’s text,
structure, or purposes. Nor can :it be squared with
this Court’s decisions interpreting the Act or the views
of the SEC. Under a proper standard, petitioners are
entitled to a trial on their claims.
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A. An Adviser That Charges An Excessive
Fee Breaches Its Fiduciary Duty ’With
Respect To The Receipt Of Compensation
For Services" Under § 36(b)

1. Section 36(b) imposes on investment advisers "a
fiduciary duty with respect to the receipt of compensa-
tion for services." 15 U.S.C. § 80a-35(b) (emphasis
added). And it establishes a private right of action in
favor of shareholders who have been injured by an
adviser’s "breach of fiduciary duty in respect of such
compensation." Id. The statute also makes clear
that, in a shareholder suit under § 36(b), "approval
by the board of directors" of a fund "shall be given
such consideration by the court as is deemed appro-
priate under all the circumstances." Id. § 80a-35(b)(2).

By its plain terms, therefore. § 36(b) not only
obligates advisers to act as "fiduciar[ies]" - a status
that carries with it disclosure obligations on a variety
of topics in addition to fees - but also creates a spe-
cific, enforceable right "with respect to" an adviser’s
"receipt of compensation." Id. § 80a-35(b). The
Seventh Circuit’s assertion that § 36(b) is satisfied
so long as the adviser "make[s] full disclosure and
play[s] no tricks" (Pet. App. 8a) - regardless of the
amount of compensation charged- thus gives short
shrift to the operative phrase "with respect to the re-
ceipt of compensation," contrary to settled principles
of statutory interpretation,s Furthermore, the lower
court’s decision to treat director approval as "conclu-
sive" (id. at 9a) contradicts the express statutory
mandate that director approval should be afforded
only "such consideration by the court as is deemed

8 See, e.g., Cooper Indus., Inc. v. Aviall Servs., Inc., 543 U.S.
157, 166 (2004).



22

appropriate under all the circumstances." 15 U.S.C.
§ 80a-35(b)(2).

The Act’s structure reinforces those conclusions.
The ICA contains numerous provisions imposing
structural safeguards on the adviser-fund relation-
ship. In addition, § 36(a) of the ICA authorizes the
SEC to seek injunctive relief against "any act or
practice constituting a breach of fiduciary duty" and
contains no specific language regarding the receipt
of compensation. Id. § 80a-35(a). Thus, the, ICA
contains multiple provisions - otlher than § 3600) -
that are intended to prevent advisers from playing
"tricks" or "pull[ing] the wool over" the directors’
eyes. Pet. App. 8a, 13a-14a. To hold, as the court
below did, that § 36(b) does nothing more than dupli-
cate those structural and general fiduciary require-
ments - and imposes no substantive check on an
adviser’s "receipt of compensation for services," 15
U.S.C. § 80a-35(b) - negates a critical aspect of the
statutory scheme Congress created.

The Seventh Circuit’s rule also contradicts Con-
gress’s purposes. Congress added § 36(b) to the ICA
in 1970 because the problem of excessive investment-
adviser compensation had proved resistant to the
structural measures adopted in 1940. Concluding
that "shareholders should not have to rely solely on
the fund’s directors to assure reasonable adviser
fees," Karnen v. Kernper Fin. Servs., Inc., 500 U.S. 90,
108 (1991) (internal quotation marks omitted), Con-
gress created a "mechanism by which the fairness of"
those fees "could be tested in court," S. Rep. No.
91-184, at 5. The Seventh Circuit’s interpretation
disserves Congress’s purpose, because it requires
investors to rely solely on the fund’s directors and
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essentially negates § 36(b) as an independent mecha-
nism to test the fairness of adviser fees.

2. The Seventh Circuit’s holding in this case also
conflicts with this Court’s decision in Daily Income
Fund, Inc. v. Fox~ 464 U.S. 523 (1984), and with the
views of the SEC. All nine Justices in Daily Income
Fund clearly understood that "an important reason
for the enactment of § 36(b)" was "to ensure reason-
able adviser fees." Id. at 534 n.10; see also id. at 546
(Stevens, J., concurring in the judgment) (indicating
that Congress intended to enable shareholders to
challenge and to recover "excessive fees"). The Court
there recognized that a major flaw in the existing
rules governing shareholder actions against invest-
ment advisers was that courts too often deferred to
director approval in denying relief. See id. at 537,
540 & n.12. Accordingly, the Court explained, Con-
gress created a new federal standard for shareholder
actions, "to act as [an] independent check[] on exces-
sive fees." Id. at 541.9 Yet. the court below read that
independent check right out of the U.S. Code, reduc-
ing the provision to a prohibition on misleading or
defrauding a fund’s directors.

The lower court’s ruling similarly conflicts with the
SEC’s views. In its brief in Daily Income Fund, the
SEC explained that § 36(b) grants shareholders a
"right to sue investment advisers in order to recover
excessive fees." Brief for the SEC as Amicus Curiae
in Support of Affirmance at 2, Daily Income Fund,

9 Although no party in Daily Income Fund argued for a
contrary reading of the statute, this Court’s conclusion was an
essential premise of its holding that a demand on the fund’s
board of directors under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.1 is
not a prerequisite to a shareholder action under § 36(b). See
464 U.S. at 534-42.
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Inc. v. Fox, 464 U.S. 523 (1984) (No. 82..1200)
("SEC Daily Income Fund Brief") (emphasis aclded).
According to the SEC, "[s]ecurity holder suits under
Section 36(b) provide a necessary supplement to the
Commission’s own enforcement a~athority under this
Section." Id. The SEC also understood that director
approval of a fee cannot be "conclusive," as the lower
court held, Pet. App. 9a, because the statute "reflects
a congressional determination that, due to co~aflicts
of interest in assessing the fairness of compensation
paid to a company’s investment adviser, courts
cannot defer to the business decisions of investment
company directors." SEC Daily Income Fund Brief at
9. Indeed, the SEC characterized the need to provide
effective iudicial review of adviser fees as a "major
impetus" for the 1970 Amendments to the ICA. Id.
at 5. The inconsistency between the decision below
and the views of the expert agency entrusted[ with
implementing and enforcing the ICA further under-
scores the importance of granting review.

B. The Seventh Circuit’s Policy Arguments
And Analogies To Other Sources Of’ Law
Do Not Support Its Interpretation O.f The
Act

The principal support for the Seventh Circuit’s
holding was its assertion that competition among
mutual funds for shareholders’ business will con-
strain adviser fees. See Pet. App. 7a, 11a-13a. But,
as Judge Posner maintained, that conclusion rests on
"an economic analysis that is ripe for reexamination."
Id. at 37a. In addition to the growing body of
scholarly work documenting "the feeble incentives of
boards of directors to police compensation," id., the
panel’s reasoning ignores that "the same structure of
incentives operates" on all mutual funds, id. at 38a.
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Thus, high fees are unlikely to drive mutual fund
investors away, because fees are similar across the
industry. See id. at 40a.

The Seventh Circuit also asserted that other fidu-
ciaries are not held liable for charging excessive fees.
See id. at 8a-10a. But the court misunderstood the
other sources of law to which it looked~ and its analo-
gies are not apt. Under the law of trusts, which the
court below invoked, it is not true that a fiduciary
may accept whatever compensation is agreed on.
Instead, "[i]f the amount of compensation provided
by the terms of the trust is or becomes unreasonably
high or unreasonably low, the court may allow a
smaller or larger compensation." Restatement (Third)
of Trusts § 38 cmt. e (2001).10 The panel’s analogy
to lawyer compensation, see Pet. App. 10a, similarly
is misplaced, because "[a] lawyer may not charge a
fee larger than is reasonable in the circumstances."
Restatement (Third) of Law Governing Lawyers § 34
(2000).

Nor does the panel’s observation that courts
ordinarily do not second-guess the compensation of
corporate officers support its conclusion. Because
Congress enacted § 36(b) in response to the inade-
quacy of existing state corporate-law standards gov-
erning excessive-compensation claims - standards
that often required a showing of "corporate waste,"

to See also Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 242 cmt. f (1959)
("If by an abuse of a fiduciary or confidential relationship
existing between the trustee and the settlor at the time of
the creation of the trust, the settlor is induced to provide that
the trustee shall receive more than a reasonable compensation,
the trustee is not entitled to the compensation provided by
the terms of the trust but only to such compensation as is
reasonable.").
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Daily Income Fund, 464 U.S. at 540 n.12 - it ’would
be absurd to rely on those same sl~andards to narrow
the statute’s scope. Moreover, Congress’s greater
concern over the compensation of investment advis-
ers than that of corporate officers makes sense. As
courts and scholars have recognized, conflicts of in-
terest "occur[] much more frequently in the relations
between a mutual fund and its investment adviser
than in ordinary business corporations." Fogel v.
Chestnutt, 533 F.2d 731,745 (2d Cir. 1975) (Friendly,
J.); see Donald C. Langevoort, Private Litigation To
Enforce Fiduciary Duties in Mutual Funds: Deriva-
tive Suits, Disinterested Directors and the Ideology
of Investor Sovereignty, 83 Wash. U. L.Q. 1017,
1032 (2005) (explaining that "[t]hinking about mutual
funds.., as a species of ’corporations’... is completely
misguided").

C. Under A Proper Standard, Petitioners’
Evidence Justifies A Trial On The Merits

Evaluated under a correct legal standard, petition-
ers’ evidence was more than sufficient to raise genu-
ine issues of material fact for trial. Most signifi-
cantly, it is undisputed that Harris charged the
Oakmark funds more than twice what it charged
independent, institutional investors that it advises.
See Pet. App. 6a, 17a, 39a~ That comparison to fees
negotiated through actual arm’s-length bargaining
alone suffices to support a finding that Harris’s fees
were "so disproportionately large" that they bore "no
reasonable relationship to the services rendered."
Gartenberg, 694 F.2d at 928; see Strigliabotti v.
Franklin Res., Inc., No. C 04-00883 SI, 2005 WL
645529, at *3-*4 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 7, 2005) (denying
motion to dismiss § 36(b) claim where plaintiffs al-
leged that the adviser charged the fund significantly
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more than it charged institutional investors for
equivalent services); see also Daily Income Fund, 464
U.S. at 537 (explaining that Congress enacted § 36(b)
partly as a response to investment advisers’ practice
of charging "mutual funds higher fees than those
charged the advisers’ other clients"). Indeed, the
evidence here showed not only that Harris charged
the Oakmark funds more than institutional clients,
but also that it cost Harris significantly less to serve
the institutional clients. See C.A. App. A145. In
addition, the record contained ample evidence that
Harris was enjoying significant, and increasing,
economies of scale, exacerbating the discrepancy be-
tween its fees and the cost of providing the services it
rendered. See id. at A137-A142.

It is no answer to assert, as did the panel below,
that the fees paid by the Oakmark funds resemble
the fees paid by other mutual funds. As Judge
Posner explained, "[t]he governance structure that
enables mutual fund advisers to charge exorbitant
fees" - the structure to which Congress responded in
enacting § 36(b) -"is industry-wide." Pet. App. 41a.
Consequently, the panel’s approach would "allow
those fees to become the industry’s floor." Id.

Petitioners also demonstrated that Harris violated
the ICA’s structural protections against excessive
adviser compensation in multiple ways. They
showed that Harris had secured approval of its fees
from a group of supposedly disinterested trustees
that in fact included a former Harris partner with a
continuing financial interest in Harris worth hun-
dreds of thousands of dollars per year, in violation of
§ 15(c) of the ICA, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-15(c). See supra
p. 7. Petitioners also demonstrated that Harris had
failed to report to the SEC and the investing public
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its continuing financial relationship with the board’s
supposedly disinterested chair, in violation of ~i 34(b)
of the ICA, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-33(b). See supra p. 7.11
In addition, petitioners adduced substantial other
evidence of Harris’s breaches of its fiduciary duty
under § 36(b), including:

¯ failing to disclose that three supposedly disin-
terested trustees were heavily invested in hedge
funds managed by a corporate affiliate of Harris,
see C.A. App. A85-A86, A88;

¯ misleading the board about i~ts profitability, see
id. at A130-A137;

¯ failing to provide the board with information
about its economies of scale, see id. at A137-
A139;

¯ resisting the board’s efforts to institute break-
points - that is, decreases in the fee percentage
on assets exceeding a certain amount -- and
threatening to close one of the funds to new
investors if breakpoints were instituted that

11 To resolve the question presented, the Court need not decide

whether a violation of § 15(c) or § 34(b) of the ICA is, in and of
itself, sufficient to establish a breach of fiduciary duty action-
able under § 36(b) (an issue the court below did not directly
address, although it was properly presented). For present
purposes, it is sufficient to recognize that evidence of vic,lations
of those provisions is relevant to, and highly probative on, the
issue of whether an adviser has breached its fiduciary duty
under § 36(b). See, ~.g., Krinsk, 875 F.2d at 409 (explaining
that "the independence ... of the trustees" is a factor to be
considered in applying the Gartenberg standard); Gart~enberg,
694 F.2d at 929 (holding that, under § 36(b), "all pertinent facts
must be weighed"); see also Galfand v. Chestnutt Corp., 545
F.2d 807, 809 (2d Cir. 1976) (holding that investment adviser
violated § 36(b) by obtaining a "one-sided revision" of its advi-
sory contract without full disclosure to the board}.



29

would impact Harris’s profits, see id. at A140-
A142’,

¯ misleading the board about the extent and cost
of the services it provided to its other clients in
comparison to the mutual funds, see id. at A146-
A148;

¯ misleading the board about its use of a Harris
affiliate to double-charge the funds for commis-
sions~ see id. at A148-A149; and

¯ misleading the board in an effort to cause the
funds to pay increased distribution payments to
intermediaries who sold shares of the funds, see
id. at A149-A151.

By failing to discuss that evidence in analyzing
petitioners’ § 36(b) claim, the Seventh Circuit implic-
itly deemed it irrelevant (or at least insufficient to
raise a triable issue of fact) under the standard
the court adopted. For this reason, the lower court’s
holding is doubly pernicious. It erroneously held that
the size of an adviser’s fee ordinarily cannot be the
basis of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty under
§ 36(b) and required shareholders to prove that the
adviser "pulled the wool over the eyes of the disinter-
ested trustees" that approved its compensation. Pet.
App. 13a-14a. At the same time, however, the court
ignored substantial evidence that Harris engaged in
exactly the type of "tricks" that the court suggested
would form the basis of an actionable § 36(b) claim.
Id. at 8a.
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III. THIS CASE PRESENTS A RECURRING
QUESTION OF EXCEPTIONAL IMPOR-
TANCE WARRANTING THE COURT’S
IMMEDIATE RESOLUTION

This case raises a question of vital importance to
investors in mutual funds - whether the excessive-
ness of an investment adviser’s fee can support a
claim for breach of fiduciary duty under § 36(b). The
significant number of reported federal appellate opin-
ions addressing the issue in recent years reflects that
the issue is one of recurring significance.12 And
the circuits with some of the largest mutual funds
in the nation - the Second Circ~it (Merrill Lynch),
the Third Circuit (Vanguard), and the Fourth Circuit
(T. Rowe Price) - now have firmly established rules.
The question presented is ripe for this Court’s review,
and this case presents an ideal vehicle in which to
resolve it.

12 See Bellikoff, 481 F.3d 110; Amron. 464 F.3d 338; Krantz,
305 F.3d 140; Migdal, 248 F.3d 321. In addition, a case pre-
senting the propriety of the Gartenberg standard is pending in
the Eighth Circuit. See Am. Mem. Op. and Order, Gallus v.
Ameriprise Fin., Inc., Civil No. 04-4498 (D. Minn. July 10,
2007), appeal pending, No. 07-2945 (8th Cir. argued Apr. 17,
2008). The decision below has been brought to the attention of
the Eighth Circuit panel. Regardless of whether the :Eighth
Circuit follows Gartenberg, the reasoning of the Seventh Circuit
in this case, or strikes out on its own, the outcome of the :Eighth
Circuit appeal can only deepen the circuit conflict, and the
pendency of that case underscores the recurring significance of
the question presented.



31

A. The Standard For Claims Of Breach Of
Fiduciary Duty Under § 36(b) Affects Mil-
lions Of Shareholders, Who Have Trillions
Of Dollars Invested In Mutual Funds

Mutual funds play a critical role in the national
economy. Nearly 51 million U.S. households, or
about 44 percent of American families, and 88 mil-
lion individuals own mutual funds.13 As of August
2008 (before the stock-market crash of October 2008),
investors held more than $11.5 trillion in retirement
and personal savings in mutual funds.14

The consequences of the Seventh Circuit’s decision
are well explained in a litigation alert posted on the
website of Harris’s counsel the day after the decision
issued. It declared that the ruling "eras[es] nearly 30
years of precedent and practice" that grew out of the
widely applied Gartenberg decision.15 The alert also
suggested that, at least in the Seventh Circuit, the
holding could "influence" - presumably by relaxing -
directors’ review of adviser fees. See Litigation Alert
at 2.16

Thus, as Harris’s counsel evidently acknowledges,
the Seventh Circuit’s decision not only restricts

13 See 2007 Trends in Ownership at 1.

14 See Trends in Mutual Fund Investing.

15 Ropes & Gray, Appeals Court Rejects Mutual Fund Exces-
sive Fee Claims, Adopting New Standard for Evaluation of Fees
1 (May 20, 2008) ("Litigation Alert"), available at http://www.
ropesgray.com/litigationalert/?PublicationTypes=0c 16874b-f94e-
4696-b607-de259b87a13f.

16 See also Floyd Norris, Fund Fees Revisited In Court, N.Y.
Times, May 23, 2008. at C1 (opining that if the decision below
"becomes widely accepted it could lead boards to forgo the often
extensive process of gathering information to determine if fees
are reasonable").
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investors’ ability to recover excessive adviser fees, but
also reduces incentives for directors to provide rigor-
ous oversight of adviser compensation. Moreower, for
both advisers of and investors in large nationwide
fund complexes, the conflict and confusion in the
circuits creates the possibility of disparate results
depending on the venue in which a suit is heard. This
Court’s intervention is required to restore uniformity
in the interpretation and application of § 36(b).

B. The Question Presented Is Ripe For’ The
Court’s Review, And This Case Is An Ideal
Vehicle For Resolving It

The Court will not benefit from further percolation
of this issue in the lower courts. The proper stan-
dard for addressing an excessive-fee claim under
§ 36(b) of the ICA has now been discussed in the
courts of appeals for more than a quarter century.
Four circuits have fully considered the issue, with
three following the Gartenberg standard and holcling
that an adviser breaches its fiduciary duty under
§ 36(b) when it charges a fee disproportionate ~;o the
services rendered, such that it would not have been
agreed to by parties bargaining at arm’s length. See
supra pp. 14-19. The Seventh Circuit has now
reached a contrary conclusion, holding that excessive-
fee claims generally are not cognizable under § 36(b).
See supra pp. 19-20. The court below acknowledged
that conflict, see Pet. App. 8a; id. at 35a. 42a-43a
(Posner, J.), as have a host of legal commentators, see
id. at 42a (citing sources). The conflict is thus fully
developed.

Furthermore, there is no realistic prospect of the
conflict being resolved without this Court’s interven-
tion. The Seventh Circuit denied rehearing on the
question, see id. at 34a, over Judge Posner’s dissent,
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which argued that "the creation of a circuit split"
warranted en banc review, id. at 42a-43a. Numerous
(and recent) Second Circuit decisions have adhered to
the approach in Gartenberg, and there is no reason to
believe that court will deviate from the standard set
forth in that case. See supra p. 16 & note 6. Accord-
ingly, the question presented is ripe for adjudication
by this Court. Declining to intervene will only lead
to further confusion and inconsistent results in the
lower courts.

In addition, this case is an ideal vehicle for resolv-
ing the question presented. There is no preliminary
or threshold issue that this Court would have to
decide before reaching the question presented. Nor
is there any alternative ground for affirming the
district court’s grant of summary judgment for Harris
if the Court reverses the decision below.

Furthermore, this case is a particularly good vehi-
cle for addressing whether, as Judge Posner opined,
the comparison between the fees an adviser charges
its captive funds and the fees it charges its inde-
pendent clients has probative value under § 36(b).
The record here contains specific evidence on Harris’s
costs to serve each type of client - such as the num-
ber of Harris employees dedicated to managing the
funds versus the number of employees dedicated to
other clients. See C.A. App. A145. Such evidence is
not available in all cases, and it makes this case an
extraordinarily good vehicle for addressing whether
the disparity between fees charged to different types
of investment clients can support a claim for breach
of fiduciary duty under § 36(b).

CONCLUSION
The petition for writ of certiorari should be

granted.
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